75372-0 75372-0

#### No. 75372-0-I

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY, a regional transit authority, dba SOUND TRANSIT,

Respondent,

V.

STERNOFF L.P.,

Appellant.

FILED
Sep 16, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE SUZANNE R. PARISIEN

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT STERNOFF L.P.

#### HOULIHAN LAW, P.C.

John J. Houlihan, Jr., WSBA No. 30285 Donya W. Burns, WBSA No. 43455 Andy L. Zabel, WSBA No. 41064

> 100 N. 35<sup>th</sup> St. Seattle, WA 98122 206-547-5052

www.Houlihan-Law.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Washington Constitution, Article I, Section 16 requires this Court to closely scrutinize the government's attempt to take private property for an asserted public use—both in substance and process. The processes that condemning authorities must follow under the United States Constitution, Washington Constitution and statutes exist to protect Washingtonians from unnecessary or unjust deprivation of their private property under the commanding authority of government entities. Sound Transit's disregard for these protections should not be condoned.

Sternoff L.P. ("Sternoff") appeals the trial court's First Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Order and Judgment Adjudicating Public Use and Necessity (the "Order"). The Order is not supported by substantial evidence and erroneously finds that Sound Transit's condemnation of Sternoff's property (the "Sternoff Property" or the "Property") meets the "public use and necessity" requirements of Washington's Constitution and condemnation law.

Sound Transit's Petition in Eminent Domain (the "Petition") seeks certain fee interests and permanent and temporary easements on the Property for two separate projects: (1) for Sound Transit's construction and operation of its East Link Light Rail (the "East Link"); and (2) for the

separate and independent City of Bellevue street improvement project to widen 124<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE (the "City Project").

Sound Transit's condemnation for the City Project violates the Constitution. The uncontroverted evidence establishes that there has never been a legislative finding that the City Project is a public use for which condemnation of the Sternoff Property is necessary: not by Sound Transit, and not by the City. Neither Sound Transit nor the City ever made the fundamental, required legislative determination for the exercise of eminent domain and condemnation of the Sternoff Property for the City Project.

Sound Transit's condemnation for its own East Link project also violates the Constitution. The uncontroverted evidence establishes that Sound Transit failed to consider the facts and circumstances regarding the Sternoff Property in its perfunctory finding of public necessity to take portions of the Property. Sound Transit's abject failure to consider those facts and circumstances violates Washington law and precludes the proposed condemnation.

Sound Transit's flawed exercise of its eminent domain authority violated Washington's Constitution, condemnation laws, and the procedural protections for property owners. These violations preclude a decree of

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sternoff does not challenge Sound Transit's determination of public *use* with respect to the East Link.

public use and necessity, require dismissal of Sound Transit's Petition, and entitle Sternoff to an award of reasonable costs and attorney fees.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred in entering the Order because Findings of Fact 7, 8 and 10 pertaining to Sound Transit's and the City of Bellevue's failure to make any legislative finding of public use and necessity regarding the City Project are not supported by substantial evidence. CP 574. In turn, Conclusions of Law 5, 6, 7 and 8 are not supported by the Findings of Fact. CP 575.
- B. The trial court erred in entering the Order because Findings of Fact 7, 8 and 10 pertaining to Sound Transit's failure to consider the facts and circumstances relevant to condemnation of the Sternoff Property are not supported by substantial evidence. Clerk's Papers (CP) 574. In turn, Conclusions of Law 6, 7 and 8 are not supported by the Findings of Fact. CP 575.

//

//

//

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- **A.** Is the Sound Transit Board's and City of Bellevue's failure to make a determination of public use and necessity for the City Project fatal to Sound Transit's Petition in Eminent Domain with respect to the portions of Sternoff property being taken for the City Project?
- **B.** Is the Sound Transit Board's failure to consider any substantive facts and circumstances concerning the Sternoff Property fatal to its Petition in Eminent Domain?
- C. Is Sternoff entitled to costs, including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees, pursuant to RCW 8.25.075(1), which provides that the condemnee shall be awarded costs if there is "final adjudication that the condemnor cannot acquire the real property by condemnation"

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Facts

1. <u>The Sternoff Property.</u> The Sternoff Property is located at 1750 124<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE in Bellevue, Washington. Clerk's Papers (CP) 156 at ¶ 3. An aerial photo of the Property is in the record at CP 181. Mr. William R. Sternoff is the General Partner of the limited partnership. CP 155 at ¶ 2.

The Property comprises two buildings, each with office space and warehouse space. Tenants require 24-hour access to, from and within the Property to conduct business including shipment and receipt of goods by long-haul, tractor-trailer. CP 156-57. The only access to and from the Property is two driveways on 124<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE. *See* CP 181.

2. <u>Sound Transit's East Link and the City Project Are Separate, Independent Projects.</u> Sound Transit's own testimony establishes that the East Link extension across 124th Avenue NE can be constructed and operated without the City Project. CP 251 (Dep. Don Billen, 16:4-12) and 264 (Dep. McGhee, 10:13-16). Kent Melton, Sound Transit's 30(b)(6) witness and Real Property Manager, unequivocally testified that Sound Transit does not need to acquire property inside the west boundary of the Sternoff Property (to widen 124th Avenue NE) in order to construct or operate East Link:

Question (Counsel for Sternoff): From a real property perspective, Sound Transit does not need to acquire the property to widen 124th Street, correct?

Answer (Sound Transit). Yes.

CP 277 (Dep. Melton, 11:23-12:1). Accordingly, Sound Transit testified that the East Link is a separate, independent project from the City Project. CP 229 (Dep. Balducci, 14:5-14), CP 251 (Dep. Billen, 15:11-20) and 277 (Dep. Melton, 11:5-8).

Question (Counsel for Sternoff): So the City's longstanding 124th Street project is separate from the Sound Transit East Link line project, correct?

Answer (Sound Transit). Correct.

CP 263 (Dep. McGhee, 9:18-21).

The City also views its project as separate from Sound Transit's East Link. In the City of Bellevue's April 26, 2013 letter to Sternoff, Deputy City Attorney Mary Kate Berens referred to "Sound Transit's *separate* East Link project." CP 166 (emphasis added).

- 3. The Access Agreements with Sternoff (2011 and 2013). In 2011, the City of Bellevue entered into a Right of Entry Agreement ("City Access Agreement") with Sternoff to access the Property for predesign work on the City Project. CP 156 at ¶ 5, 161-64.² Two years later in 2013, Sound Transit entered into a separate Right of Entry Agreement ("Sound Transit Access Agreement") to enter the Property for engineering investigations on the East Link. CP 157 at ¶ 10, 168-70.
- a. <u>City of Bellevue Access Agreement</u>. The City entered into its Access Agreement with Sternoff in December 2011. CP 156 at ¶ 5 161-64. The City wanted access to the Sternoff Property to conduct survey work in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The City of Bellevue-Sternoff Access Agreement at Clerk's Papers 161–64 concerns the City Project (Capital Improvement Project (CIP) PW-R-166), but also contains reference to a different Capital Improvement Project that the City of Bellevue was undertaking at that time (CIP D-86) in the Recitals. Please see Section 4, "Purpose and Equipment" of this Access Agreement for a description of the work applicable City Project. CP 162.

connection with its widening of 124th Avenue NE along the west side of the Sternoff Property. CP 162. The City's planned improvements to 124th Avenue NE under its Comprehensive Plan include widening the road, and upgrading the sidewalks, landscaping and signalization. CP 341, 484-85.

The only access to the Sternoff Property is via two driveways along 124th Avenue NE, so Mr. Sternoff was particularly concerned with the impact the City Project would have on access to, from and within the Property, both during and after construction. CP 181 and 156 at ¶ 6. A key tenant on the Property relies on 24-hour access, and all of the tenants rely on uninterrupted access for customers, employees, shipments, deliveries and parking. CP 156 at ¶ 4.

In consideration for allowing the City entry onto the Property for its pre-design work, Sternoff requested, and the City agreed to, access provisions that would apply during the pre-design work and, most significantly, during the future construction and operation of the City Project. CP 156 ¶ 7, 163. Section 7 of City's Access Agreement defines the "Adequate Access" that the City promised to maintain:

#### 7. Access to Business Park

7.1 Adequate Access. As used in this Agreement the term "Adequate Access" means two points of ingress/egress from 124<sup>th</sup> Avenue N.E. to the Property, including, but not limited to, location, length, width and slope, reasonably suited to accommodate

passenger vehicles and eighteen-wheel semi-trailer trucks up to 80 feet long, 9 feet wide and 14 feet tall to enter, circulate and leave the Property. One point of ingress/egress must be located to the north of the northern building on the Property.

7.2 Improvements. <u>During design and construction of the CIP PW-R-166</u>, the City will ensure that Adequate Access is provided to the Property.

7.2(sic) Design and Construction. The City has advised that, due to profile changes (vertical raising and lowering), it is likely that an ingress/egress adjustment will be needed to connect the new roadway to the Property. The final design and construction will provide Adequate Access to the Property.

#### CP 163 (Emphasis added.)

In April 2013, the City restated its commitment to Sternoff, ensuring Adequate Access to the Property throughout the City's design and construction of the City Project. CP 157 at ¶ 9, 166. The City's attorney, Mary Kate Berens, wrote to Mr. Sternoff's attorney and stated "...with this letter the City is reiterating its commitment in the [Access Agreement] dated December 5, 2011 to ensure 'adequate access' to the Sternoffs' Property throughout the City's activities in design and construction of the 124<sup>th</sup> widening project." *Id.* The letter also referenced Sound Transit's "separate East Link project." *Id.* 

b. <u>Sound Transit Access Agreement</u>. Two years later, Sound Transit entered into a separate Access Agreement with Sternoff in April

2013. CP 157 at ¶ 10, 168-70. Sound Transit wanted access to the Property to conduct survey work for the East Link. *See*, *id*. *See also*, CP 2 at ¶ 2. The East Link will run along and through the south portion of the Property. *See*, CP 31-33, 183.

Sound Transit staff was informed by Mr. Sternoff and understood the concerns about Adequate Access on the Property. Sound Transit staff also knew of the earlier City Access Agreement. CP 157 at ¶ 12, 172.

Sound Transit's Senior Real Estate Property Agent at the time, Kent Melton, attended an April 24th, 2013 meeting on the Property with Mr. Sternoff, the City, and Sound Transit's Senior Counsel, to negotiate Sound Transit's proposed Access Agreement. Sound Transit was seeking access to study the Property, and as with the City, Mr. Sternoff wanted an agreement to preserve access and circulation on the Property before, during and upon completion of construction of the Sound Transit project—and they came to an agreement. CP 276 (Deposition of ("Dep.") Melton, 9:7-10:4). *See also*, CP at 166, 174-75.

Sound Transit agreed to access provisions similar to those in the City Access Agreement. Section 1, Paragraph 3 of the Sound Transit Access Agreement says:

Active Business Park. Sound Transit understands and acknowledges that the Property is an active business park with tenants, clients and vendors going to and from the buildings at all hours and requiring unobstructed access for vehicles including long, over the road trucks that need to circulate the buildings ("access"). During and after expiration of the Term, except as needed and temporarily, Sound Transit will not block access to the business park or buildings or impede access around the buildings needed for tenants, clients and deliveries, and will not otherwise interfere with the day to day business operations on the Property.

#### CP 168. (Emphasis added.)

On the same day Sound Transit signed its Access Agreement with Sternoff, Sound Transit's Senior Counsel provided written assurances to Sternoff that it would be a "high design priority to ensure that the access and circulation around the building can be maintained throughout the project, whenever construction takes place." CP 175.

Mr. Sternoff negotiated both Access Agreements to address the impact the City's and Sound Transit's separate projects would have on access to, from and within the Property both during construction after completion. Mr. Sternoff would not have granted (and did not grant) the City or Sound Transit entry onto the Property without the specific, valuable consideration of adequate access during and after construction of both the Sound Transit and City projects. CP 157-59 at ¶¶ 8 and 15.

4. <u>Sound Transit's Resolution to Condemn the Sternoff</u>

<u>Property—R2013-21 Is Limited to the East Link Project.</u> With design work for the East Link underway, Sound Transit sought the legislative authority required to condemn properties along the East Link corridor. In 2013, Sound Transit staff proposed Board of Directors Resolution R2013-21 ("R2013-21"), which proposed acquisition of the Sternoff Property and 59 other properties for the East Link. CP 7-29.

R2013-21 states that Sound Transit's Chief Executive Officer may "acquire, dispose, or lease certain real property interests, including acquisition by condemnation and pay eligible relocation and reestablishment benefits to affected owners and tenants *as necessary for East Link Extension*." CP 8 (emphasis added). R2013-21 also states that the East Link Extension is a "public purpose" and the acquisition of the 60 properties identified in R2013-21 is necessary for that purpose. CP 10. R2013-21 was the only legislative resolution concerning the Sternoff Property, and it does not refer to, mention or in any way concern the City Project.

The Sound Transit Board of Directors (the "Board") adopted R2013-21 on September 26, 2013 by means of a summary vote on its "consent agenda." CP 11, 190-91, 231 (Balducci Dep. 23:8-12 and 24:8-13).

a. <u>The Sound Transit Board Did Not Consider Any Facts or Circumstances Concerning the Sternoff Property Prior to Voting to Condemn</u>. The Board's approval process for R2013-21 began less than five months after Sound Transit negotiated and signed the access agreement with Sternoff and provided the written assurances that access and circulation around the building would be maintained throughout the project, whenever construction takes place.

The approval process started with a September 12, 2013 staff presentation to the Board's Capital Committee (the "Committee"). CP 177-78 at ¶ 6–7, 188. *See also*, CP 277 (Dep. Melton 12:12-22). Sound Transit's Real Property Director, Roger Hansen, accompanied by Kent Melton, presented the R2013-21 Staff Report, which included the proposed Resolution and provided information about staff's research and public outreach. Neither the staff presentation nor the staff report disclosed the Access Agreement between Sound Transit and Sternoff. *Id.* 

Within 6 minutes, the Committee had heard the staff presentation, finished discussions, and voted to forward R2013-21 to the full Board with a "do pass" recommendation. CP 177-78 at ¶¶ 6 and 7. Neither Sound Transit staff nor any member of the Capital Committee engaged in discussions about the Sternoff Property or the necessity of taking the Sternoff Property. *Id*.

Sound Transit's Kent Melton attended the Committee meeting and had direct, personal knowledge of the Sternoff Access Agreement and its requirements during and after East Link construction. Yet, he did not disclose that key information to the Committee, or say anything about the Sternoff Property. CP 277 (Dep. Melton, 13:21-24).

The Staff Report also makes no mention of the Sternoff Property, the Sound Transit Access Agreement, or the written assurances to Sternoff by Sound Transit's Senior Legal Counsel. CP 198-223.

Mr. Melton testified that no specific facts or circumstances concerning the Sternoff Property, including Sound Transit's obligations regarding access, were disclosed to the Committee at the September 12, 2013 meeting. CP 277 (Dep. Melton, 12:19-22).

On September 26, 2013, the Sound Transit Board of Directors summarily approved R2013-21 at the beginning of its Board meeting as part of a consent agenda. CP 190-91. Motions and Resolutions on the consent agenda typically receive a collective "approve" vote, without discussion of the individual items thereon. CP 231 (Dep. Balducci, 23:8-16).

Neither Sound Transit staff nor the Board engaged in any substantive discussion concerning R2013-21, the Sternoff Property, or the necessity of taking the Sternoff Property. CP 178 at ¶ 9. Sound Transit staff did not disclose the existing Access Agreement between Sound Transit and

Sternoff to the Board. CP 277-78 (Dep. Melton, 12:19-22, 13:21-14:4). In total, the Board spent just over 4 minutes on the consent agenda (which included 3 Resolutions, 2 Motions, and approval of prior Board meeting minutes). *Id.* at ¶ 10. The Board did not address any facts or circumstances whatsoever underlying the proposed taking of the Sternoff Property. *Id.* at ¶ 9. Sound Transit Board Member Claudia Balducci, who has been on the Board for approximately 6 years, testified she does not recall ever voting against a resolution to condemn property for a Sound Transit project. CP 229 (Balducci, 15:2-10).

b. <u>R2013-21 Does Not Authorize Sound Transit to Acquire</u>

<u>Property for the City Project.</u> R2013-21 does not authorize the Chief

Executive Officer to acquire property for the City Project. CP 7-29.

There was absolutely no mention of the City Project at either the Capital Committee meeting or the subsequent full Board meeting. CP 178 at ¶ 9. None of the publicly available Sound Transit documents or recordings concerning adoption of R2013-21 to acquire the Sternoff Property, including the R2013-21 Staff Report, mentions the City Project or the acquisition of property for that purpose. *See*, CP 177 at ¶¶ 6 and 9; 185-223.

Sound Transit's CR 30(b)(6) witnesses unequivocally testified that R2013-21 does not relate in any way to the acquisition of property interests for the City Project:

Question (Counsel for Sternoff): R2013-21, in September of 2013, did it relate to Sound Transit acquiring property interests for the City of Bellevue's 124<sup>th</sup> Street widening project?

Answer (Sound Transit). No, not that I'm aware of, it did not. CP 278 (Dep. Melton, 16:12-15).

Sound Transit staff testified that Sound Transit's agreement with the City to acquire property for the City Project did not arise until nearly two years after R2013-21 was drafted and adopted by the Board. *See*, CP 251 (Dep. Billen, 16:8-12).

5. Sound Transit-City of Bellevue 2015 Memorandum of Understanding Concerning the City Project. In May 2015, two years after the passage of R2013-21, the City of Bellevue and Sound Transit entered into an inter-local agreement for the East Link Project—the "Amended and Restated Umbrella Memorandum of Understanding for Intergovernmental Cooperation Between the City of Bellevue and the Central Puget Sound Regional Transit Authority for the East Link Project" and a Cost Sharing Agreement (collectively the "2015 MOU"). CP 178-79 at ¶ 12; CP 316-482, 484-544. The 2015 MOU amended and updated a 2011 MOU between the City and Sound Transit. CP 178-79 ¶ 12; CP 316-482. The 2015 MOU

added provisions regarding coordination of the City Project and Sound Transit's East Link and, for the first time, it established a Cost Sharing Agreement for those coordinated efforts. CP 178-79 at ¶¶ 12 and 13; CP 316-482, 484-544.

Don Billen, Sound Transit's High Capacity Transit Project Development Director, testified that Sound Transit's obligation to acquire property for the City Project did not arise until adoption of the 2015 MOU. CP 251 (Dep. Billen, 16:4-12). The 2015 MOU was signed more than 2 years *after* passage of R2013-21 authorizing condemnation of the Property for the East Link.

6. Neither Sound Transit Nor the City of Bellevue Has Ever

Taken Legislative Action Authorizing Condemnation of the Sternoff

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