No. 75372-0-I King County Superior Court No. 16-2-08800-7 SEA

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

STERNOFF L.P., a Washington limited partnership,

Appellant,

٧.

CENTRAL PUGET SOUND REGIONAL TRANSIT AUTHORITY, a regional transit authority, dba SOUND TRANSIT,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jeffrey A. Beaver
Estera Gordon
Emily Krisher
MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP
Pier 70
2801 Alaskan Way, Suite 300
Seattle, Washington 98121
206.624.8300
Attorneys for Sound Transit

2016 SEP 30 PM 2: 53

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

ARGUMENT

The first step in an eminent domain proceeding is adjudication of public use and necessity. *Des Moines v. Hemenway*, 73 Wn.2d 130, 138, 437 P.2d 171 (1968). Public use and necessity has three elements: (1) the use for which the property is condemned is really a public use; (2) the public interest requires condemnation; and (3) the property to be appropriated is necessary for that use. *Id.* In this case, Sternoff challenges only the third element: necessity.

Although it is up to the courts to decide whether a proposed use is actually a public use, the "necessity" of acquiring particular property or property rights for that use is a legislative determination for the condemning agency. E.g., HTK Management L.L.C. v. Seattle Popular Monorail Authority (hereafter, "HTK"), 155 Wn.2d 612, 629 ¶ 39, 121 P.3d 1166 (2005). The agency's declaration that the proposed acquisition is necessary to accomplish a public purpose "will, by the courts, be deemed conclusive, in the absence of proof of actual fraud or such arbitrary and capricious conduct as would amount to constructive fraud." City of Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d 677, 684, 399 P.2d 330 (1965); accord, In re Port of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 392, 398-99, 495 P.2d 327 (1972). In an eminent domain proceeding, the party challenging the agency's necessity determination has the burden of proof to show the agency's decision was arbitrary and capricious, amounting to constructive fraud. City of Bellevue v. Pine Forest Properties, Inc. (hereafter, "Pine Forest"), 185 Wn. App. 244, 262 ¶ 47, 340 P.3d 938 (2014), rev. denied, 183 Wn.2d 1016 (2015).

It is a heavy burden, which Sternoff failed to meet. The Trial Court found that the Property described in the Petition was necessary for Sound Transit's project, and there was no actual or constructive fraud, abuse of power, bad faith, or arbitrary and capricious conduct by Sound Transit. CP 574.

These findings are reviewed under the substantial evidence test. *Pine Forest*, 185 Wn. App. at 263-64 ¶¶ 52-53. In *Pine Forest*, the property owner requested this Court to review the findings *de novo*. But because "the trial court reviewed an enormous amount of documentary evidence, weighed that evidence, resolved inevitable evidentiary conflicts and discrepancies, and issued statutorily mandated written findings," this Court rejected that argument and held the substantial evidence standard of review applied. *Id.* at 264 ¶ 53. The same is true here. *See* CP 110-566; CP 571-623; VRP 1-25.

Under the substantial evidence test, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the respondent on appeal. *Public Utility Dist. No. 2 v. North Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC* (hereafter, "*NAFTZI*"), 159 Wn.2d 555, 576 ¶ 41, 151 P.3d 176 (2007). Substantial evidence supports a finding if, "viewed in the light most favorable to the respondent," it "would persuade a fair-minded, rational person" that the finding is true. *Central Puget Sound Reg'l Transit Auth. v. Miller* (hereafter, "*Miller*"), 156 Wn.2d 403, 419 ¶ 29, 128 P.3d 588 (2006) [internal quotations omitted]. Thus, the Trial Court's findings must be upheld if, viewed in the light most favorable to Sound Transit, the

evidence supports them. That is, the Trial Court must be affirmed unless the <u>only</u> conclusion a "fair-minded, rational person" could draw from the evidence is that Sound Transit's determination of necessity was the product of arbitrary and capricious conduct amounting to constructive fraud. *Id.* If reasonable minds could differ, the Trial Court's findings are supported by substantial evidence and must be affirmed.

As shown below, Sound Transit's legislative determination that the Sternoff Property was necessary for the East Link Project is, in itself, substantial evidence to support the Trial Court's necessity finding (Argument A). Moreover, none of the arguments put forth by Sternoff is legally or factually sufficient to satisfy its burden on appeal. Viewed in the light most favorable to Sound Transit, the evidence allowed a "fair-minded, rational" trier of fact to find that Sound Transit did not engage in arbitrary and capricious conduct amounting to constructive fraud. Sound Transit's legislative determination of necessity in 2013 appropriately reflected the need for design flexibility, including the need to collaborate with the City and accommodate future transportation needs (Argument B). Sound Transit was not required to engage in a detailed review of the Sternoff Property's individual characteristics at a public hearing as a

prerequisite to its necessity determination (Argument C). Sound Transit did not and could not bargain away its eminent domain power when it entered into the entry agreement with Sternoff, and so it was not arbitrary and capricious to disregard the entry agreement when it determined necessity (Argument D). And, in the Petition for Eminent Domain, Sound Transit properly adjusted the Property to be taken for the East Link project based on its collaborative design process with the City (Argument E).

A. Sound Transit's Legislative Determination that the Sternoff Property Was Necessary for the East Link Project Is Substantial Evidence Supporting the Necessity Finding.

Necessity has a very specific meaning in eminent domain law. It does not mean the project could not exist without the property; rather, it means that the property has been selected for and will actually support a designated public use. E.g., NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 576 ¶ 40 (necessity exists if the project fulfills a "genuine need" and "condemnor in fact intends to use the property for the avowed purpose") [internal quotations omitted]. "[A] particular condemnation is necessary as long as it appropriately facilitates a public use." Miller, 156 Wn.2d at 421 ¶ 36. "Put another way, when there is a reasonable connection between the

public use and the actual property, this [necessity] element is satisfied." *Id.*; accord, Port of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d at 398-99.

"Since the turn of the century, Washington courts have provided significant deference to legislative determinations of necessity in the context of eminent domain proceedings." HTK, 155 Wn.2d at 631 ¶ 42. An agency's determination that property is necessary for a public use is conclusive unless the party opposing condemnation shows the determination was arbitrary and capricious, amounting to constructive fraud. City of Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d at 684.

Sound Transit determined that each of the properties along the light rail alignment was necessary for the project, and authorized acquisition by purchase or condemnation of "all or any portion" of those properties. CP 203. This, in itself, is sufficient evidence to support the Trial Court's necessity finding. See, e.g., NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 577 ¶ 42. (board resolution identifying public purpose and selecting property to accomplish that purpose was sufficient); City of Seattle v. Loutsis Inv. Co., Inc. (hereafter, "Loutsis"), 16 Wn. App. 158, 167, 554 P.2d 379 (1976) ("determination of necessity was for the City to make"); King County v. Olson, 7 Wn. App. 614, 619-20, 501 P.2d 188 (1972) (substantial evidence

supported necessity of take when agency presented overall plans for park and showed "that open space land within the proposed park area had been selected for acquisition").

Here, Resolution R2013-21, which authorized the take, specifically determined that the Property was "necessary for the construction and permanent location of the East Link Project," and specifically that acquisition was "for the light rail construction, operation and maintenance in the Bel-Red Corridor of Bellevue between 120th Ave NE and 148th Ave NE." CP 202. In addition, the evidence before the Trial Court showed that Sound Transit's decisions were driven by the chosen alignment of the project, which had been determined years before (e.g., CP 197-99, 249-50, 294-95), that taking the Property was necessary to effectuate the desired grade separation between the light rail trackway and 124th Ave NE (e.g., CP 278 at 15:24-16:15, CP 341), an alignment design choice dating back to before Resolution R2013-21 was adopted (e.g., MOU at Ex. C, p. 4⁷), and that Sound Transit was responsible for acquiring the Property under the terms of the Amended MOU and related agreements, some of which might be required for the City's right of way

⁷ Web page link at n.3

project <u>and</u> Sound Transit's East Link project (e.g., CP 233-34 at 32:12-34:4; CP 409). This evidence is sufficient to support the Trial Court's necessity finding.

Sternoff argues, however, that Sternoff proved, beyond fair-minded, rational dispute, that Sound Transit engaged in arbitrary and capricious conduct amounting to constructive fraud, and the Trial Court should therefore have disregarded Sound Transit's necessity determination. This argument fails based on the evidence and the longstanding Washington law discussed below.

B. Sound Transit's Necessity Determination Reasonably Reflected the Need for Design Flexibility; It Was Not Arbitrary and Capricious.

In *Port of Seattle*, the owner challenged the Port's necessity determination, claiming it was arbitrary and capricious because "the plans for the use of the property to be acquired are not specific." 80 Wn.2d at 398. The court rejected the argument. First, the court noted there was a specific public use—air cargo facilities—designated for the property. *Id.* Second, the court held that the lack of "specific or detailed plans for the facilities to be constructed" is insufficient to establish arbitrary and capricious decision-making amounting to the constructive fraud. *Id.*

Quoting Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d at 684, the Port of Seattle court held: "the word necessity does not mean absolute, or indispensable, or immediate need, but rather its meaning is interwoven with the concept of public use," and is satisfied when the property is taken to support the designated public use. Id. at 398-99 [internal quotations omitted]. It is sufficient if the property "will be devoted to that use in due course." Id. at 399; accord, State v. Hutch, 30 Wn. App. 28, 39, 631 P.2d 1014, rev. denied, 96 Wn.2d 1011 (1981). In State v. Hutch, the court reversed the trial court's refusal to enter an order of public use and necessity. The college showed that its campus was too small and it intended to eventually use the condemned property for future expansion. This mandated a finding of necessity to take the entire property in fee; the trial court erred in allowing the college to take only the easement it needed immediately. Id. In other words, "necessity" encompasses "reasonable anticipation of future needs." State ex rel. Hunter v. Sup'r Court (hereafter, "Hunter"), 34 Wn.2d 214, 216, 208 P.2d 866 (1949).

As in *Port of Seattle*, the designated public use here is clear: "construction, operation, and permanent location of the East Link Extension." CP 203 §§ 3-4. Likewise, as in *Port of Seattle* and *State v*.

Hutch, the lack of specific or detailed plans for the East Link Extension, which was the situation when Sound Transit legislatively determined the Property was necessary for its project, is insufficient to establish arbitrary and capricious decision-making amounting to constructive fraud.

Sternoff relies on testimony that Sound Transit <u>could have</u> designed and built the project without accommodating the City's plan to widen 124th Ave NE, claiming this is dispositive. As a matter of law, however, a necessity determination does not require absolute need; the question is whether the property will in fact be used to support the project as designed, and the project may be designed and built to accommodate anticipated future needs.

Nor does the collaboration between Sound Transit and the City of Bellevue undermine the Trial Court's necessity finding. In *Pine Forest*, this Court relied on *Port of Seattle and Tacoma v. Welcker* to affirm the trial court's necessity finding with regard to the precise projects at issue here—the East Link Extension and the Bel-Red Transportation Improvement Plan. This Court held that to substantiate its necessity determination, the condemning authority need only show "some definite stated plan of improvement" using the property to be acquired. *Pine*

Forest, 185 Wn. App. at 263 ¶¶ 48-49. The plan, though, need not be fully articulated, mapped, specified, or detailed when the necessity determination is made. *Id.* The condemnor is allowed to determine that property is necessary for the project before final design is complete, and make a necessity determination that is expansive enough to accommodate "remaining decisions that have not yet been made." *Id.* ¶¶ 50-51. Likewise, property may be deemed necessary and acquired in eminent domain before project funding is assured. *Id. at* 253-54 ¶ 22.

Here, having carefully considered alternative alignments, Sound Transit chose an alignment, determined whose property would be affected, notified them, held a public hearing at which the affected owners, including Sternoff, had an opportunity to present evidence and offer testimony, determined that the property abutting the alignment was necessary for the East Link Extension, and authorized acquisition up to the entire fee interest based on the final project design, which was yet to be determined. Sound Transit knew at the time that the final design could not be determined without the cooperation and collaboration of the City of Bellevue, whose rights of way would be impacted by the alignment. *E.g.*,

MOU at 2, 3, 5; TWA at 3, 5, 7.8 As shown above, the fact that further action and decisions—by Sound Transit and others—would be needed to implement the project and specify the exact property interests to be acquired does not render Sound Transit's necessity determination arbitrary and capricious or support a finding of constructive fraud.

Indeed, this Court has previously acknowledged that the statutory directive under which Sound Transit was formed requires local governments and transportation agencies to "coordinate" their responsibilities for "high capacity transportation policy development, program planning, and implementation." *Pine Forest*, 185 Wn. App. at 247 ¶2 (quoting RCW 81.104.010). In *Pine Forest*, this Court affirmed the trial court's approval of a necessity determination that was driven in part by the fact that "significant design, scheduling, and coordination decisions had not been made with respect to the East Link Project or with respect to the Bel-Red Transportation Improvement Plan." *Id.* at 251 ¶14. These are the same two projects that Sternoff contends Sound Transit could not legally coordinate in this case.

⁸ Web page links at n.3 and n.4

In *Pine Forest*, this Court agreed that the City of Bellevue's necessity determination was not arbitrary and capricious where it was made to "minimize[] complications, and the potential for additional costs" inherent in the ongoing planning and coordination of the two projects. *Id.* The Court specifically mentioned the ongoing discussions between Sound Transit and the City about coordinating construction plans for the East Link Extension with the City's Bel-Red Transportation Improvements as supporting a more inclusive property acquisition than that advocated by the property owner. *Id.* at 252 ¶ 17.

Here, too, the need for design flexibility going forward, the need to coordinate that design with other affected entities like the City of Bellevue, the need to reach agreements for use of City rights of way, the need to serve the public interest by planning and managing the construction process to be cost-effective and efficient, with an eye to minimizing disruption to the traveling public, and the desire to work with the affected owners to the extent possible to accomplish these goals, all support Sound Transit's determination that the Sternoff Property was necessary to serve the public purpose, and authorization to acquire up to the entire Property to the extent dictated by the final design. There is no

evidence these considerations were fraudulent, arbitrary, or capricious. On the contrary, they reflect the complexity of expanding light rail into the developed and developing municipalities that need it, and are essential to and required by the statutory directives pursuant to which Sound Transit was formed.

C. No Washington Authority Requires a Condemnor to Consider the Individual Characteristics of Property Deemed Necessary for a Public Project; the Trial Court Reasonably Found Sound Transit's Conduct Was Not Arbitrary and Capricious.

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